ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
NOV 23 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GENE D. COOK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001922

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343 .

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The restitution court abused its discretion by ordering Appellant to pay \$9,999 in restitution to compensate the victim for all items stolen during a burglary where Appellant only pled guilty to receiving stolen goods valued between \$1,000 and \$5,000 dollars as a result of Appellant having purchased a Babe Ruth autographed baseball that he knew or should have known was stolen, thus, the imposition of \$9,999 in restitution was without an underlying conviction or factual basis.

II.

The restitution court erred by ordering Appellant to pay \$9,999 in restitution; where the restitution court's order overruled the earlier determination of the sentencing court, which had accepted Appellant's guilty plea for "possession of stolen goods valued between \$2,000 and \$5,000 dollars" based on the State's summation of the case at Appellant's guilty plea hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 27, 2013, the Edgefield County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Donald Cook for one count of grand larceny. R. 38.

On June 11, 2013, Appellant pled guilty before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo to one count of possession of stolen goods valued between one thousand and five thousand dollars. R. 2, ll. 1-11; R. 9, l. 9 - 11, l. 5; R. 40. The grand larceny charged was *nol processed*. W. Greg Seigler represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor H. Franklin Young, III, represented the State.

Judge Russo sentenced Appellant to five years imprisonment suspended on upon time served (196 days) and five years of probation. R. 10, l. 20 - 11, l. 6. Judge Russo ordered that the amount of restitution be determined at a later hearing and ordered that restitution be paid as a condition of probation. *Id.*

On September 3, 2015, a restitution hearing was held before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. Bennett E. Castro represented Appellant. Assistant Solicitor Ervin J. Maye represented the State. Judge McMahon ordered that Appellant pay \$9,999 in restitution. R. 34, ll. 13-20.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Phillip Frew's Edgefield County home was burglarized on August 19, 2012. He reported that a shotgun and other personal items, including two Babe Ruth autographed baseballs, were taken. R. 6, l. 6 - 8, l. 5. Some weeks later, Frew reported that a stolen check had been cashed on his account in Aiken county. *Id.*

Law enforcement interviewed the man who cashed the check - identified only as "Williams" by the solicitor at the guilty plea hearing. Williams explained to police that he had received Frews' checks from a man named Chris Green. *Id.* Law enforcement then interviewed Green, who explained that he had purchased the checks from Appellant.

According to Green, Appellant had visited Green in the days after the robbery and offered to sell him the checks and other items that Appellant was carrying in his truck. Green also mentioned to law enforcement that Appellant was trying to sell two Babe Ruth autographed baseballs. *Id.*

After his arrest, Appellant helped the police recover the baseball, that he paid Green four hundred dollars for, from an area pawn shop, but denied involvement in the burglary. R. 15, ll. 7-16. Despite indicting Appellant for allegedly stealing: a television, a laptop, a DVD player, a handgun, a second Babe Ruth autographed baseball, and two shotguns, in addition to the one recovered baseball, the police did not find any other items connected to the Frew burglary in Appellant's possession. R. 38.

Guilty Plea

Appellant pled guilty to one count of possession of stolen goods valued between \$1,000 and \$5,000. R. 2, ll. 1-11; R. 10, l. 20 - 11, l. 6. In its recitation of the facts, the State lamented that it was unable to prove that Appellant was involved in the robbery, "[w]e, essentially have word of mouth connecting back to [Appellant]." R. 7, ll.4-11.

Defense counsel informed the plea court, “[q]uite frankly, Mr. Cook is guilty of receiving stolen goods, which he’s pleading to and that’s about all they can prove, because Mr. Green has a record about three times as long as Mr. Cook’s and one of the baseballs was recovered.” R. 8, ll. 6-13.

The State requested that restitution be held in abeyance so that Frew could testify as to the value of the baseball. R. 7, ll. 23-24. Defense counsel then objected to the State insinuation that Appellant was involved in the burglary. R. 8, ll. 6-23.

The court accepted the guilty plea. R. 10, l. 20 - 11, l. 6. Appellant was sentenced to a sentence of five years suspended on upon credit for 196 days of pretrial incarceration and probation. *Id.* Appellant was ordered to pay restitution as a condition of probation. Once restitution was paid in full, Appellant’s probation was to be terminated.

Restitution Hearing

On September 3, 2015, a restitution hearing was held before Judge McMahon. At the beginning of the hearing, defense counsel objected to the imposition of restitution, explaining that Appellant pled guilty to possessing stolen goods and that the “goods” in this case was a Babe Ruth autographed baseball, that had been returned to Frew. R. 15, ll. 7-16. Defense counsel further explained that Appellant had purchased the baseball from Chris Green, but that Appellant was not involved in the underlying burglary. *Id.*

Judge McMahon denied the objection and held that, since Appellant had already pled guilty, the only issue was how much restitution should be ordered based on Frew’s total losses in the burglary, not on the value of the baseball Appellant admitted to possessing. *Id.* at ll. 17-25. “He’s been sentenced by the judge. The judge indicates restitution is ordered; amount to be determined,

hearing to be held. So that's already the Order of the Court. It's not a matter of whether he objects or doesn't; it's a matter of how much." *Id.*

Defense counsel then objected to the restitution court's decision to not limit its restitution order to the value of the Babe Ruth baseball that Appellant pled guilty to receiving. R. 16, ll.1-11. The objection was overruled. The solicitor then argued that Frew's total loss as a result of the burglary was \$23,249. Insurance covered only \$4,389. This left Frew with an out of pocket loss of \$18,860. *Id.* at ll. 20-25.

The solicitor then alleged that Appellant had approached Frew and questioned why they were holding a restitution hearing as Frew had recovered the baseball that Appellant had purchased. R. 13 - 18, l. 2. The court again questioned why Appellant was objecting to the restitution hearing:

He stood before a judge and entered his plea of guilty to at least having possession of stolen goods with a value of 2,000 but not less (sic) than \$10,000. The judge at the time indicated restitution is ordered. Payment terms must be determined at a hearing.

It seems somewhat disingenuous to me for him to now say, oh well, I didn't accept it; I didn't steal it. And the restitution statute that you cite, that at the restitution hearing, the defendant, the victim, the attorney general, the solicitor or other interested party may object to the imposition amount or distribution of restitution, or the manner or method of them, and the Court shall allow all of these objections to be heard and preserved as a matter of record.

R. 18, l. 12 - 19, l. 4.

Defense counsel objected and clarified that the restitution issue should be limited to the Babe Ruth baseball that Appellant had admitted knowing was stolen when he bought it. R. 19, l. 10 - 20, l. 2. This baseball had since been returned and was the only item, of the numerous items stolen from Frew, that Appellant had come into contact with. *Id.* The restitution court agreed that Appellant only pled guilty to possessing the baseball. *Id.*

However, the court then demanded to know why Appellant was contacting Frew, as the State had alleged, thus violating his probation. Defense counsel stated that he was unaware of the alleged contact until the solicitor mentioned it earlier in the hearing. The court then speculated that Appellant “wants to do what he wants to do other than follow the authority of the Court and the law of the State of South Carolina is what I think.” R. 20, l. 25 - 21, l. 2:

Testimony of Gene Donald Cook

Cook testified that he purchased a Babe Ruth autographed baseball from Chris Green that he knew was stolen. He paid \$400 for the baseball which also included signatures from other members of the Yankees. R. 21, l. 24 - 22, l. 25. He further stated that he then sold the baseball to a friend who was later interviewed by police. *Id.*

Law enforcement recovered the baseball and interviewed Appellant. While being interrogated, Appellate identified the people he believed were involved in the burglary and tried to help law enforcement with their investigation. R. 25, ll. 15-25. “I bought a baseball; I shouldn't have. I sold it to try to make some money and ultimately they got that same baseball that I bought back. That's the only thing I know about. But I told them who I got it from . . . I couldn't do anything else.” R. 25, l. 15-25.

State's Argument

Frew never testified, the State presented no witnesses, and entered no evidence into the record. Despite Appellant never having been charged with conspiracy nor having any co-defendants, the solicitor argued that “oftentimes co-defendants are jointly and severally liable for restitution. I think there's an overwhelming amount of circumstantial evidence in this case.” R. 26, ll. 9-16.

The solicitor then informed the court that, despite Appellant having been released from custody after his guilty plea some two and half years before the restitution hearing, the police “**just intercepted** communications between [Appellant] and his girlfriend where he’s talking about guns that were stolen.” R. 26, ll. 9-16 (*emphasis added*). The solicitor produced an apparently newly-discovered book that he claimed Appellant exchanged with his girlfriend while in jail.

Unidentified handwriting in the book stated that “Say only this, that you went with me to sell the ball that I got from Chris Green. I traded some guns for the ball and you did not know it was stolen from anywhere.” R. 27, l. 21 - 28, l. 5. Notwithstanding the fact that the State agreed to allow Appellant to plead guilty to possessing a baseball that he knew or should have known was stolen, the State theorized that:

“[w]e believe that [Appellant] was involved in total in this criminal enterprise and it was not just limited to his possession of that single stolen item. I think that that was just the one thing they were able to conclusively put on him because he took that one item over to that pawn shop, Your Honor. But believe, we believe he was a part and parcel involved in all of it. . . .”

R. 26, ll. 17-25.

Accordingly, the State asked the court to order restitution “in at least the amount of \$18,860.

R. 27, ll. 2-9. **Again, Appellate pled guilty to possession of stolen goods valued between \$1,000 and \$5,000.**

Defense counsel then reiterated that the baseball, the only item that Appellant pled guilty to possessing, was valued at \$5,000. The solicitor agreed with this valuation, but insisted that Appellant was a participant in the burglary and should have to compensate Frew for all of the stolen items.

Court's Restitution Order

The court ordered Appellant to pay \$9,999.99 to Frew. R. 33, 1. 15 - 36, 1. 3. The court specifically warned Appellant against contacting Frew in the future and made "no victim contact" a condition of his probation. *Id.* Defense counsel then renewed his objection to the court setting restitution in an amount higher than the established value of the baseball that Appellant pled guilty to knowing was stolen when he bought it. *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

I.

The restitution court abused its discretion by ordering Appellant to pay \$9,999 in restitution to compensate the victim for all items stolen during a burglary where Appellant only pled guilty to receiving stolen goods valued between \$1,000 and \$5,000 dollars as a result of Appellant having purchased a Babe Ruth autographed baseball that he knew or should have known was stolen, thus, the imposition of \$9,999 in restitution was without an underlying conviction or factual basis.

When the elements of the crime justifying restitution are admitted or proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the court must determine by a preponderance of the evidence if the state has proven the amount of restitution. *State v. Gullede*, 326 S.C. 220, 487 S.E.2d 590 (1997). "Restitution" is defined as "payment for all injuries, **specific losses**, and expenses sustained by a crime victim **resulting from an offender's criminal conduct.**" S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-1110 (Supp. 2005) (*emphasis added*).

As in most sentencing proceedings, a court may conduct a broad inquiry at a restitution hearing, "largely unlimited as to the kind of information . . . or the source from which [information] may come." *State v. Franklin*, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976); S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-430 (2010). However, there must be a factual basis which shows that the victim suffered the claimed losses **as a result of appellant's conduct.** *State v. Fussell*, 299 S.C. 162, 383 S.E.2d 1 (1989)(*emphasis added*).

Like South Carolina courts, the Fourth Circuit has repeatedly held that there must be a causal connection between the defendant's "offense of conviction" and the victim's losses. *United States v. Blake*, 81 F.3d 498 (4th Cir. 1996). In imposing restitution, a court must look into the "specific conduct that is the basis of the conviction." *Id.* at 502.

Here, the restitution court erred in imposing \$9,999 in restitution where the established value of the baseball that Appellant pled guilty to knowing was stolen when he purchased it was

between \$1,000 and \$5,000. The restitution court failed to consider that the baseball at issue was returned to Frew, thus restitution should have been limited to whatever “specific damages and economic losses” Frew suffered as a result of not having continuous possession of the Babe Ruth autographed baseball that Appellant admitted to knowing was stolen when he purchased it.

In all material respects, Appellant’s case is indistinguishable from *State v. Fussell*. 299 S.C. 162, 383 S.E.2d 1 (1989). In *Fussell*, the defendant pled guilty to two counts of grand larceny, three counts of second-degree burglary, and one count of burglary. *Id.* The trial court ordered Fussell to pay \$1,500 in restitution “just for antagonizing the man’ whose place of business had been broken into a number of times.” *Id.* at 164, 383 S.E.2d 1.

In contrast to the large restitution award, the only evidence put forward by the State regarding the **victim’s losses attributable to Fussell’s admitted to criminal conduct** was “office and stereo equipment, office supplies and some other small items worth over \$200.” *Id.* Accordingly, our Supreme Court held that “the judge’s reasons for ordering restitution are improper and the solicitor’s statement is insufficient to support the amount of restitution ordered.” *Id.*

Like the victim in *Fussell*, it is undisputed that Frew experienced serious losses as a result of his home being burglarized. The record also makes clear that the solicitor passionately believed that Appellant participated in the burglary, but simply had no evidence of Appellant’s involvement. R. 26, l. 9 - 28, l. 5. Whatever the reason, the State declined to try Appellant on the grand larceny indictment and must now live with their decision.

The State agreed to have Appellant plead guilty to possession of stolen goods. Specifically, one Babe Ruth autographed baseball. R. 19, l. 10 - 20, l. 2. This baseball was recovered, with Appellant’s assistance, and returned to Frew. Rather than establishing the

financial loss attributable to the “specific conduct that is the basis of the conviction,” the State used the restitution hearing to extract a level of retribution upon Appellant to compensate for their aversion to trying him for grand larceny. R. 26, ll. 9-16.

Nonetheless, the fact remained that Appellant only admitted to receiving one Babe Ruth autographed baseball that he knew or should have known was stolen. That admission is the sole factual basis for restitution. *State v. Fussell*. 299 S.C. at 163, 383 S.E.2d at 1.

The State’s allegations at the restitution hearing were neither admitted to by Appellant at the guilty plea hearing nor proven by the State at trial. The solicitor’s unsubstantiated feelings, however strong, cannot support a restitution award. *See State v. Wilson*, 274 S.C. 352, 264 S.E.2d 414 (1980) (holding that an evidentiary basis must exist before the court may impose restitution).

Accordingly, there was no factual basis for the court to impose \$9,999 in restitution where Appellant pled guilty to receiving one Babe Ruth autographed baseball that he knew was stolen that was valued at, at most, \$5,000. Moreover, the court, when imposing restitution, erred in not taking into consideration that the baseball Appellant pled guilty to knowing was stolen when he purchased it was returned to Frew.

Therefore, Appellant’s case should be remanded for a recalculation of restitution that recognizes Appellant pled guilty to buying what he knew or should have known was a stolen Babe Ruth autographed baseball and that the baseball was later returned to the victim.

II.

The restitution court erred by ordering Appellant to pay \$9,999 in restitution, where the restitution court's order overruled the earlier determination of the sentencing court, which had accepted Appellant's guilty plea for "possession of stolen goods valued between \$2,000 and \$5,000 dollars" based on the State's summation of the case at Appellant's guilty plea hearing.

Relevant Facts

At Appellant's June 11, 2013 guilty plea hearing, the solicitor informed the court that "[t]he State is accepting a plea of guilty of receiving stolen goods from a \$1,000.00 to \$5,000.00 amount". R. 2, ll. 1-11. The sentencing court accepted that there was a factual basis for the guilty plea as Appellant admitted that he purchased a Babe Ruth autographed baseball that he knew had very likely been stolen. R. 6, l. 6 - 7, l. 11; R. 8, l. 14 - 11, l. 6.

After expressing skepticism about the authenticity of the baseball - the State maintained that Frew had two Babe Ruth autographed baseballs, a claim the court found incredulous - the sentencing court ordered that a restitution hearing be held at a later date to determine the value of the baseball. *Id.*

The sentencing sheet signed by Judge Russo stated unambiguously, in Judge Russo's handwriting, that Appellant pled guilty to "**receiving stolen goods \$1,000 - \$5,000.**" R. 40. The sentencing sheet further notes that Appellant violated S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180(2). This specific code section does not exist. However, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180 details the elements and penalties for receiving stolen goods.

At the restitution hearing, Judge McMahon incorrectly stated that Appellant had pled guilty to possessing stolen goods with a value of between \$2,000 and \$10,000. R. 18, ll. 3-20. Defense counsel objected to the imposition of restitution. R. 15, ll. 7-16. Prior to setting restitution, Judge

McMahon observed that Appellant had possessed the baseball “as a stolen item which he then pled guilty to that was of a value up to \$4,000. R. 20, ll. 3-5.

Despite Judge Russo’s earlier determination that the maximum value of the baseball was \$5,000 when accepting Appellant’s guilty plea to possession of stolen goods valued between \$1,000 and \$5,000, Judge McMahon ordered Appellant to pay \$9,999 in restitution. R. 2, ll. 1-11; R. 9, l. 18 - 11, l. 6; R. 34, ll. 13-21.

Discussion

Trial courts have wide discretion in determining what sentence to impose. *State v. Franklin*, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976). **The authority to change a sentence rests exclusively with the sentencing judge.** *State v. Smith*, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981). Determining the amount of restitution to impose is a part of the sentencing of a convicted or admittedly guilty defendant’s sentence.

When there is a discrepancy between an oral pronouncement of a sentence and a written sentencing order, **the oral pronouncement controls.** *Bordeaux v. State*, 410 S.C. 495, 500, 765 S.E.2d 143, 145 (2014) (PCR judge erred in ruling ambiguous sentencing sheets took precedence over unambiguous plea transcript). Any ambiguity or doubts relative to a sentence should be resolved in favor of the accused.” *Tant v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 408 S.C. 334, 342, 759 S.E.2d 398, 402 (2014) (citing *State v. DeAngelis*, 257 S.C. 44, 50, 183 S.E.2d 906, 909 (1971).

Generally one circuit court judge does not have the power to review, modify, affirm, or reverse the findings of another circuit court judge. *Cook v. Taylor*, 272 S.C. 536, 252 S.E.2d 923 (1979); *Sheppard v. Kimbrough*, 282 S.C. 348, 318 S.E.2d 573 (Ct.App.1984). This principle is applies with particular force where the ruling involves a purely legal question. *Belton v. State*, 313 S.C. 549, 554, 443 S.E.2d 554, 557 (1994) (holding that one circuit court was without authority to

review findings of another as to whether Budget and Control Board had jurisdiction to hear reinstated employee's appeal of the Board's calculation of her "back pay").

The test for determining when one circuit court judge has infringed on the earlier findings of another circuit court judge is whether the second judge "entered findings on the issues ruled upon" by the first judge. *State ex rel. Medlock v. Love Shop, Ltd.*, 286 S.C. 486, 488, 334 S.E.2d 528, 529 (Ct. App. 1985).

Here, the restitution court infringed on the earlier finding of the plea court. Specifically, by imposing \$9,999 in restitution the restitution court was, at a minimum, modifying a ruling by the plea court. The plea court accepted the guilty plea based on **the State's explanation of that Appellant was admitting to "receiving stolen goods from a \$1,000.00 to \$5,000.00 amount"**. R. 2, ll. 1-11.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180(2), the code section cited to on the sentencing sheets, does not exist. While there is no statutory offense for possessing stolen goods with that value range, at the very least, the \$1,000 to \$5,000 range represents a determination by the plea court as to the potential value of the baseball. The plea court unambiguously accepted Appellant's guilty plea for "receiving stolen goods from a \$1,000.00 to \$5,000.00 amount". R. 2, ll. 1-11; R. 40.

This oral pronouncement by the plea court, a direct result of the State's own statement of the offense that Appellant was pleading guilty to, is controlling. Any ambiguity caused by the written reference to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180(2) on the sentencing sheet, where the sentencing court also noted that Appellant pled guilty to "receiving stolen goods \$1,000 - \$5,000", must give way to the unambiguous oral acceptance of the terms of the guilty plea by Judge Russo. *Bordeaux*, 410 S.C. at 500, 765 S.E.2d at 145.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the June 11, 2015 restitution order should be vacated and remanded for a new hearing.