ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001922

RECEIVED

NOV 28 2016

SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina, Respondent,

v.

Gene Donald Cook, Jr., Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
803-734-3737

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. The restitution hearing judge did not abuse his discretion in ordering Appellant to pay \$9,999.99 in restitution.¹

¹ This combines the two issues raised in the Final Brief of Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the April 2013 term of the Edgefield County Grand Jury for grand larceny (2013-GS-19-0240). (R. p. 38).

On June 11, 2013, Appellant pled guilty to receiving stolen goods (\$1000 - \$5000). (R. p. 2). He was represented by W. Gregory Seigler, Esquire. On that date, the Honorable Thomas A. Russo levied a sentence of five (5) years suspended on the service of time-served and five (5) years probation. (R, p. 10; p. 40). Judge Russo also noted a “[s]pecial condition of probation is that I’m going to order restitution in an amount to be determined at a hearing to be held, but I’m going to provide that once that amount is set, this probation can end, terminated, once that restitution is paid in full.” (R. pp. 10-11; p. 40).

A restitution hearing was held on September 3, 2015. Appellant was represented by Bennett E. Casto, Esquire. On that date, the Honorable R. Knox McMahon ordered restitution to the victim in amount of \$9,999.99. (R. p. 34; p. 40).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilty Plea Hearing

At the beginning of the guilty plea hearing, the assistant solicitor noted Appellant had been indicted for grand larceny but would be pleading guilty to receiving stolen goods.² (R. p. 2). Appellant indicated he understood the constitutional rights he would waive if he pled guilty. (R. p. 4). Appellant agreed his understanding of the plea recommendation was “that the Court consider a probationary sentence that would involve some amount of restitution with the understanding that once [he] completed the payment of that restitution, that that probation could end.” (R. p. 5). Appellant stated that, other than the recommendation, no one made any promises or threats in order to induce his guilty plea. (R. p. 5).

The assistant solicitor recited the facts of the case. The victim’s house was burglarized while he was absent and “shotguns and a variety of other items were taken.” (R. p. 6). When someone subsequently attempted to cash one of the victim’s checks, police determined the checks came from Appellant. (R. p. 6). A second individual stated Appellant

came by my house and he had a tarp over the back of the truck and in the time frame involved here right after it happened, he said he had a way and maybe he might be interested in some of the products he had. He saw the butt of a shotgun, what looked to him to be something like that, and some signed Babe Ruth baseballs, which was peculiar to the items of larceny taken from the residence, relatively rare items. Those items, he said, were in the back of the car.

(R. pp. 6-7).

After reciting Appellant’s record of prior convictions, the assistant solicitor asked the plea judge to “delay and hold open restitution” so the victim could “present some evidence”

² The assistant solicitor also noted a first-degree burglary charge would be not prossed. (R. p. 2)

about the stolen items. (R. pp. 7-8). Plea counsel stated they wanted to hold restitution open so the value of the items could be determined. (R. p. 8).

Plea counsel, in mitigation, stated Appellant “made a mistake” and “intends on paying for the items he’s responsible for.” (R. p. 10). The plea judge imposed sentence and noted a “[s]pecial condition of probation is that I’m going to order restitution in an amount to be determined at a hearing to be held, but I’m going to provide that once that amount is set, this probation can end, terminated, once that restitution is paid in full.” (R. pp. 10-11).

Restitution Hearing

At the start of the restitution hearing, counsel for Appellant objected to the imposition of restitution in this case. (R. pp. 15-16). The judge found the hearing would proceed, however, because the guilty plea ordered restitution and Appellant did not file an appeal. (R. p. 15; pp. 18-19).

The assistant solicitor stated the victim had \$23,249 in actual losses and had been reimbursed by his insurer for \$4,389, which left him with out-of-pocket losses of \$18,860. The assistant solicitor noted the victim had provided detailed documentation. (R. p. 16). Counsel argued Appellant pled guilty to possessing a stolen item (an autographed Babe Ruth baseball) and this was the only stolen item Appellant possessed. (R. pp. 19-20).

Appellant offered testimony on his own behalf. Appellant knew the Babe Ruth baseball was stolen when he purchased it for \$400. (R. pp. 21-23; p. 24). Appellant did not purchase any other stolen items. (R. p. 23; p. 24). Appellant sold the Babe Ruth baseball to another individual for \$1,000. (R. p. 23).

The assistant solicitor stated the victim provided an itemized list of the property that was taken and noted “oftentimes co-defendants are jointly and severally liable for restitution.” (R. p. 26). The assistant solicitor stated his belief – based on intercepted communications between Appellant and his girlfriend – that Appellant “was involved in total in this criminal enterprise” and the victim should be awarded \$18,860 in restitution. (R. pp. 26-28). After the judge inquired into whether Appellant’s co-defendant was ordered to pay restitution, the assistant solicitor replied the co-defendant pled guilty to other burglary charges (and the burglary charge in the victim’s case was dismissed), and so he was not ordered to pay restitution. (R. pp. 30-32). The judge clarified the \$5,000 baseball was recovered, so the balance sought by the victim was \$13,859 and thus ordered \$9,999.99 in restitution. (R. pp. 33-35).

ARGUMENT

The restitution hearing judge did not abuse his discretion in ordering Appellant to pay \$9,999.99 in restitution.

Appellant argues “the restitution court erred in imposing \$9,999 in restitution where the established value of the baseball that Appellant pled guilty to knowing was stolen when he purchased it was between \$1,000 and \$5,000.” (Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 11-12). Appellant argues that in imposing \$9,999.99 in restitution, “the restitution court was, at a minimum, modifying an issue ruled upon by the plea court. The plea court accepted the guilty plea based on the State’s explanation [] that Appellant was admitting to ‘receiving stolen goods from a \$1,000.00 to \$5,000.00 amount.’” (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 16). Appellant’s argument is without merit.

A.

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Dawson, 402 S.C. 160, 163, 740 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2013) (citing State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 586, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011)). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law.” Id.

B.

When a defendant is convicted of a crime causing pecuniary damages or loss to a victim, the court must hold a hearing to determine the amount of restitution due to the victim as a result of the defendant’s criminal acts. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-322(A) (2014). “[I]n addition to any other sentence which [the court] may impose, the court shall order the defendant make restitution or compensate the victim for any pecuniary damages.” Id. “Restitution means payment for all injuries, specific losses, and expenses sustained by a crime victim resulting from an offender’s criminal conduct.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1110(12) (2014) (internal quotation marks omitted).

During a restitution hearing, the trial judge is allowed broad discretion in the manner of conducting the hearing. State v. Gullede, 326 S.C. 220, 230, 487 S.E.2d 590, 595 (1997). The judge’s decisions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Id. The judge is permitted to consider any and all information pertinent to the proper sentence for a particular defendant. State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) (citation omitted); see also State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976) (A judge “generally has wide discretion in determining what sentence to impose. It is also true that before making that determination, a judge may appropriately conduct an inquiry broad in scope, largely unlimited

either as to the kind of information he may consider or the source from which it may come.”) (citations omitted); State v. Cantrell, 250 S.C. 376, 379-80, 158 S.E.2d 189, 191 (1967) (“Highly relevant, if not essential, to [the judge’s] selection of an appropriate sentence is the possession of the fullest information possible concerning the defendant’s life and characteristics.”).

C.

The restitution hearing judge neither abused his discretion nor circumvented the intent of Appellant’s sentence in ordering restitution in the amount of \$9,999.99. Pursuant to South Carolina Code Annotated § 17-25-125 (2014), when sentencing a defendant convicted of a crime involving the unlawful taking of another’s property, the judge may order the defendant to make restitution to the victim in an amount equal to the monetary loss sustained by the victim – as determined by the sentencing judge. In the instant case, the judge had broad discretion to hear facts and evidence related to the issue of restitution. See Gullede, 326 S.C. at 230, 487 S.E.2d at 595. The judge heard about the monetary loss suffered by the victim (who presented an itemized list documenting his losses). (R. p. 16; p. 26). The judge also heard about an intercepted communication between Appellant and his girlfriend in which Appellant mentioned guns and other items taken from the victim’s residence. (R. pp. 26-28). This information was properly considered by the restitution hearing judge in determining the amount of restitution. See id. at 229, 487 S.E.2d at 594 (“A restitution hearing is part of the sentencing proceeding and thus, the trial court may consider information which may be inadmissible under evidentiary rules.”). The judge did not abuse his broad discretion in considering information related to the burglary of the victim’s residence – even though Appellant pled guilty to the charge of receiving

stolen goods – because as the sentencing judge, he can consider restitution for unindicted offenses. See State v. Bynes, 304 S.C. 62, 64, 404 S.E.2d 126, 127 (Ct. App. 1991) (citation omitted) (“[A] judge acts properly in considering restitution for unindicted offenses as a condition of probation as long as the defendant knowingly consents to the judge’s consideration of those crimes and there is some evidentiary basis for the amount of restitution ordered.”). The restitution hearing judge considered and ordered restitution for specific damages associated with the crime for which Appellant pled guilty. Any economic damage suffered by the victim as a result of this crime meets the statutory definition for restitution. The victim stated he incurred damage when items were stolen from his residence. The restitution hearing judge, in relying upon these figures in determining restitution, clearly found this evidence was credible. Cf. Marshall v. Lonberger, 459 U.S. 422, 433, 103 S. Ct. 843, 850 (1983) (applying presumption of correctness to implicit finding against the defendant’s credibility, where that finding was necessarily part of the court’s rejection of the applicant’s claim). As such, the restitution hearing judge was well within his discretion to order Appellant to pay the victim restitution in an amount that included losses in excess of those contemplated by only the receiving stolen goods charge.

D.

Accordingly, the restitution hearing judge did not abuse his discretion in ordering Appellant to pay \$9,999.99 in restitution to the victim in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment of the lower court be affirmed.